NO.2006-KA-00725-COA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PATRICK DOUGLAS DENHAM

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI



BRIEF OF THE APPELLANT

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

MISSISSIPPI OFFICE OF INDIGENT APPEALS

Leslie S. Lee, Miss. Bar No. 301 N. Lamar St., Ste 210 Jackson MS 39201 601 576-4200

Counsel for Appellant

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

PATRICK DOUGLAS DENHAM

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

V.

NO.2006-KA-00725-COA

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CERTIFICATE OF INTERESTED PERSONS

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

ISSUE NO. 1: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO PROHIBIT IN THE INTRODUCTION OF EVIDENCE REGARDING FINGERPRINT COMPARISON AND RESULTS.

ISSUE NO. 2: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION IN LIMINE TO PROHIBIT OTHER CRIMES EVIDENCE FROM BEING ADMITTED IN VIOLATION OF MRE 404(b).

ISSUE NO. 3: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING AN EYEWITNESS TO MAKE AN IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION OF THE DEFENDANT.

<u>ISSUE NO. 4</u>: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING APPELLANT'S INSTRUCTION ON INCONSISTENT TESTIMONY.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

This appeal proceeds from the Circuit Court of Forrest County, Mississippi, and a judgment of conviction for the crime of burglary of a dwelling against Patrick Douglas Denham and resulting in a twenty-five year sentence as an habitual offender following a jury trial on November 17, 2005, Honorable Robert B. Helfrich, Circuit Judge, presiding. Patrick Douglas Denham is presently incarcerated with the Mississippi Department of Corrections.

FACTS

According the trial testimony, On March 3, 2005, Shelia Mathis lived at 2145 James Street in Hattiesburg, MS. Tr. 76-77. She met her daughter and her daughter's husband for lunch. Tr. 84. It was her daughter's birthday. After lunch, Ms. Mathis and her daughter went shopping. Mathis's son-in-law, Nelson Peden, went back to Mathis's house to take a nap. After beginning to shop, Ms. Mathis received a phone call from Mr. Peden telling her that her house was being burglarized. Tr. 85. When she arrived at the house, she noticed an open window in her utility room which she had not left open. Tr. 86. The house had been ransacked. Tr. 119. Ms. Mathis testified at trial that she did not know Patrick Denham and would not have given him permission to be in her house. Tr. 93-94. She also testified the home was her dwelling house. Tr. 94.

Nelson Peden related that when he arrived at Mathis's house to take a nap, he got out of his car and unlocked the carport door. He did not go inside, but stayed under the carport to smoke. Tr. 107-108. He then saw a man running across the yard. The man was running toward a car which was parked next to a shop located behind the Mathis's house. Tr. 110, Ex. 4. Mr. Peden was scared and excited. Tr. 122. Mr. Peden described him as "a large black man. I remember him having a baseball cap on." Tr. 111. Mr. Peden identified the car the man was driving. Ex. 12. Mr. Peden testified he got a good look at the man's face as the man was driving by him. Tr. 112. However, Mr. Peden never told police he got a good look at him at the time. Tr. 132, R.E. 26-27. Mr. Peden then chased the man in his car. Tr. 112. He did not get a license number off the car. The man he was chasing later got caught in traffic, turned around, and came back toward Mr. Peden in Peden's lane, causing Peden to go off the side of the road. Tr. 113. Mr. Peden told police the man ran him off the road. Tr. 160. Mr. Peden identified the appellant as the man he saw drive past him¹. After following the man past some railroad tracks, Mr. Peden lost the car. Tr. 114.

¹Peden also admitted, however, that he knew he would have to identify the appellant and knew he would be sitting at the defense table. Tr. 133.

Mr. Peden then returned to Mathis's house. Tr. 115. He gave a description to police of the man he saw as 6'2" and 250 pounds, although he testified he told the police the man was about 6 foot and about 200 pounds and in his mid-30s. Tr. 123-124, 129, 157-158. The officer also noted on his report that Peden told him the man had a mustache, although Mr. Peden testified he had a beard. Tr. 125, 158. He also told the officer when the man drove by him, he smiled, but that fact was not in a subsequent written statement taken by Detective Doug Wilson later that day. Tr. 126-127, 159, Ex. 19, R.E. 26-27. Mr. Peden later met with detectives and picked the appellant out of a photo lineup. Tr. 116-117, 150, Ex. 14. Mr. Peden then admitted he was shown another picture of the appellant after the photo line-up. Tr. 118, 151, Ex. 11. Mr. Peden first admitted he worked a 24 hour shift the day before this incident, but later said he did not remember. Tr. 138.

Detective Wilson, while investigating the scene, noticed footprints outside an open window of the house. Tr. 146. While testifying about Peden's statement, he said Mr. Peden identified the car he saw because of the dents he recognized. However, nothing about dents was included in the written statement. Tr. 163-164. Mr. Peden never testified about any dents. Detective Wilson also admitted he did not follow the Department of Justice guidelines on line-ups. Tr. 175-176. When Mr. Denham was arrested, no items stolen from the Mathis home were recovered. Tr. 180.

Denise Ruple, with the Metro Crime Scene Unit of the Hattiesburg Police Department, testified she noticed a shoe impression under the open window of Mathis's house. Tr. 196, Ex. 21. Another shoe impression was found on the carpet inside the house. Tr. 197, Ex. 2223. No casts were made of the shoe print in the yard. Tr. 207. Ms. Ruple also testified she dusted the window for fingerprints. Tr. 201. She recovered two latent prints on the inside of the window. Tr. 202, Ex. 24. She also recovered a print from the master bedroom. Tr. 202-203. No other prints of any evidentiary value were discovered in the house. Tr. 209.

Jeffrey Byrd, a crime scene detective with the Hattiesburg Police Department testified he took the palm prints and fingerprints from Patrick Denham. Tr. 215-216, Ex. 25. Paul Wilkerson with the Mississippi Crime Laboratory testified as an expert in fingerprint identification. Tr. 221. He testified that the initial examinations were conducted by Jamie Bush. Mr. Bush is Wilkerson's boss. Tr. 223. After Mr. Bush made the call that the latent prints taken from the Mathis home matched the prints of Patrick Denham, Mr. Wilkerson reviewed the report and concurred that the appellant's left middle fingerprint matched the partial print found on the inside of Mathis's window. Tr. 225-226, 228. Mr. Wilkerson testified the print was made by Mr. Denham "to the exclusion of everybody else in the world." Tr. 228. The other prints did not match Mr. Denham. Tr. 230.

Detective Nick Calico testified that while on patrol on March 3, 2005, three days before the burglary, he came into contact with Patrick Denham. Tr. 96. He related that as part of that encounter, he took pictures of Mr. Denham. Tr. 97. Detective Calico related that Mr. Denham was driving a green Buick at the time. Tr. 98, Ex. 12. He also took pictures of the bottoms of Mr. Denham's shoes. Tr. 101, Ex. 15. Mr. Denham was not cited for any traffic violation or found to be in the violation of any law. Mr. Denham was cooperative and

4

was released after the photos were taken. Tr. 103-104. The photos were turned over to the Hattiesburg Police Department. Tr. 191.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The jury was improperly allowed to hear evidence that the appellant, Mr. Patrick Denham, was stopped by police days before the crime on the suspicion of some criminal conduct. This was unduly prejudicial. Why would the police photograph Mr. Denham's shoes if he was not suspected of criminal conduct? The jury was also allowed to hear the incourt identification of Mr. Denham after a suggestive out of court identification. Mr. Denham's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation was violated when the initial fingerprint examiner was not called to testify, yet his opinion was introduced into evidence. Finally, the jury was not allowed to be instructed on Mr. Denham's theory of the case. All these errors individually and cumulatively deprived Mr. Denham of a fair trial.

<u>ARGUMENT</u>

<u>ISSUE NO. 1:</u> THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION TO PROHIBIT IN THE INTRODUCTION OF EVIDENCE REGARDING FINGERPRINT COMPARISON AND RESULTS.

On November 15, 2005, Mr. Denham's trial counsel filed a motion to prohibit the introduction of any evidence of the fingerprint comparisons done in this case. C.P. 27. The State only produced one examiner, Paul Wilkerson, when, according to the guidelines set forth in the Scientific Working Group on Friction Ridge Analysis, Study and Testing (SWGFAST), the testimony of two examiners is necessary for a valid identification. (Exhibit To the Motion, Page 1). The State's failure to produce the other examiner, Jamie Bush,

violated Mr. Denham's Sixth Amendment right to confrontation. The trial judge heard counsel's motion regarding this issue prior to trial. Tr. 61-65, R.E. 19-23. The court ruled the failure to have both examiners present was a matter for cross-examination. Tr. 65, R.E. 23. This was error.

The standard of review for the admission or suppression of evidence is abuse of discretion. *Haggerty v. Foster*, 838 So.2d 948 (¶25) (Miss. 2002). Furthermore, the admission of expert testimony is within the sound discretion of the trial judge. *Puckett v. State*, 737 So.2d 322 (¶57) (Miss. 1999). However, the Sixth Amendment to the United States Constitution and Article Three, §§ 14 and 26 of the Mississippi Constitution provide the accused with the right to confront those who testify against him. Mr. Denham clearly asserted this right in the court below and did not waive Mr. Bush's presence.

During the hearing on this motion, counsel pointed out that in fingerprint analysis, an identification is not valid unless it is verified by another examiner.

[MR. FARRIS:]It would be a Sixth Amendment violation of my client's constitutional rights to effectively cross-examine and counter the witnesses if Mr. Bush and Mr. Wilkerson aren't here to testify.

THE COURT: Response?

MR. SAUCIER: Your Honor, I'm familiar with the guidelines. And the guidelines that are followed by the Mississippi Laboratory require two examiners and their signatures. And that occurs on the report. You have Jamie Bush and you have Mr. Wilkerson.

Never is it required that they both have to actually show up for court. In this particular incidence, the testimony is going to be – and we're going to show the chain of custody is going to be from Denise Ruple – she actually carried everything up there the knowns are from the testimony of Mr. Byrd. The prints were taken to the crime laboratory. At that point in time, Mr. Bush and the other individual took control of them. They both examined them. They both signed on the sheet. And counsel got a copy of both of their signatures, but only one is here today to testify. The other is, in fact, I believe, in Washington D.C. But I've never been required to present both people to actually testify.

MR. FARRIS: A brief response, Your Honor?

THE COURT: Response?

MR. FARRIS: The point being because, Your Honor, the case that I've reviewed nobody has ever looked into the validation and the process that goes into when an opinion is established.

In this case in order for them to offer that opinion, besides the fact that it's a Sixth Amendment violation, they've also got to lay the proper foundation to put this into evidence. Without the other examiner it's not a valid opinion and no foundation will be laid to put it into evidence.

THE COURT: Isn't the other examiner's opinion there as part of the ordinary business record of any other -I mean, isn't it there on that that this other witness is testifying, yes, I examined them, also?

MR. FARRIS: That would be an exception, Your Honor, to the hearsay part of it. But as far as putting the opinion into evidence to establish the foundation of it, they've got to have both of these examiners, in my opinion, before it can be offered into evidence, the results.

THE COURT: Mr. Saucier?

MR. SAUCIER: Your Honor, I've provided the Court with Adams v. State which is a 2001 case that's cited at 794-10-49. That case was even more critical because what happened was the technician that actually did the examination, which is even more critical than this, was not the person that testified. It was actually the person that followed the protocol by being the supervisor. And in that case, a DNA case, they said that they didn't require the technician that even did the DNA procedures, that the supervisor who simply reviewed those procedures was adequate. If that's the case, my goodness, in a fingerprint where they both examine it, you certainly wouldn't need them both here.

MR. FARRIS: Could I draw a distinction, Your Honor, briefly? **THE COURT:** um-hum.

MR. FARRIS: Your Honor, the difference in that case and this case is in the DNA evaluation it only takes one examiner to draw the opinion and the conclusion, which he can document through a business record in the case.

In this situation it takes two examiners to establish the opinion. Without that examiner being here, I can't confront him as to whether his opinion was different than that of the second examiner. There has to be at least eight points or more before an opinion can be valid. And I also offer the Court there are no specific guidelines on the ridge test as to objectively looking at and determining whether an examiner has established a valid opinion. It is totally subjective.

THE COURT: I think you can go into that on cross-examination, but, otherwise, I'm going to allow him to testify.

Tr. 62-65, R.E. 20-23.

At trial, the State cited the court to *Adams v. State*, 794 So.2d 1049 (Miss.App. 2001), for the proposition that a supervisor can testify as to the conclusions of a non-testifying technician. *Id.* at ¶ 21-24. The circumstances are clearly different in this case. Mr. Wilkerson was not Mr. Bush's supervisor. He did not supervise all aspects of Mr. Bush's examination. In fact, Mr. Bush was Mr. Wilkerson's boss. Tr. 223. They were not even located in the same laboratory. Tr. 224, 235. Mr. Wilkerson testified that for a valid identification to be made, two examiners must agree on the identification. Tr. 231-33. Mr. Denham had a constitutional right to cross-examine Mr. Bush on his conclusions. The jury was allowed to hear Mr. Bush's hearsay conclusion without any cross-examination. Tr. 223. This was clearly error.

The cases usually cited on this issue relate to an expert's use of the opinions of other non-testifying persons in making his or her own conclusions. *See Gray v. State*, 728 So.2d 36, ¶85-90 (Miss. 1998). However, the issue here is not Mr. Wilkerson's qualifications to testify, but on the failure to have Mr. Bush testify to verify the conclusion the fingerprint found on the window of Mathis's house matched Mr. Denham. Fingerprint examinations are very different than DNA analysis. Two experts do not need to agree in order for there to be a DNA match. Fingerprints are much more subjective and human error is possible.

8

Q. [MR. FARRIS] In your experience, Mr. Wilkerson, there have been more than one case of an examiner being wrong?

A. [MR. Wilkerson] This is correct. It has happened.

Q. There has been more than one case of misidentification?

A. That's correct.

Q. So you'd agree with me than that fingerprint comparison is not an exact science. When a human component is involved, there's always a factor of fallacy, right?

A. There's always the opportunity for operator error, yes. And that is the reason you have so many checks and balances in the system to try to ensure that no mistakes are made.

Tr. 235.

This is precisely why Mr. Denham had an absolute constitutional right to cross-examine the

other expert who identified his print².

Finally, Mr. Bush's opinion was clearly testimonial under Crawford v. Washington,

541 U.S. 36, 68 (2004). Mr. Denham is entitled to a new trial so that he may properly

confront all the witnesses against him. Bell v. State, 928 So.2d 951 (¶36-38) (Miss.App.

2005).

ISSUE NO. 2: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN NOT GRANTING APPELLANT'S MOTION IN LIMINE TO PROHIBIT OTHER CRIMES EVIDENCE FROM BEING ADMITTED IN VIOLATION OF MRE 404(b).

Prior to trial, Mr. Denham's trial counsel filed a motion to prohibit the introduction of prejudicial evidence of other crimes. C.P. 32. The motion was heard by the trial court immediately prior to trial and overruled. Tr. 57-61, R.E. 15-19. This evidence clearly

²It should also be noted, although not necessary to assert this error, the latent prints taken from the Mathis's home and referenced as Exhibit 24, are not contained in the exhibits provided to the Court. Only a copy of the envelop marked Exhibit 24 is included.

prejudiced Mr. Denham in the eyes of the jury and should have been excluded under M.R.E. 404(b) and M.R.E. 403.

Jurors know that drivers are not stopped by police and photographed for no reason. It was clear to the jury that Mr. Denham was suspected of some crime by the police for officers to want to photograph him, his car, and his shoes. Jurors know that normal traffic stops do not include police taking pictures of the occupants of the car. Detective Nick Calico testified he came in contact with Mr. Denham in early March of 2005. Tr. 96. He also stated Mr. Denham was not engaged in any illegal conduct and was not ticketed on that day. Tr. 103. Yet Detective Calico testified he took pictures of Mr. Denham. Tr. 97. In the motion in limine, trial counsel argued to the court:

MR. FARRIS:This burglary happened on March 3, 2005. Two days prior to this incident my client was stopped in Palmer's Crossing with two other individuals in a green Buick vehicle. And the officers, as a result of their ongoing investigation separate from this case, took photographs of my client and the other individuals in the car, their shoes, and the vehicles. It's believed that the State will intend to offer this into evidence in this case. We would state that this has no relevance whatsoever. It's extremely prejudicial to my client. And furthermore, it would affect my cross-examination. There would be no way that I could cross-examine the officer that's going to testify about this information without having to get into the fact that there were other burglaries involved that he may have been implicated in.....

Tr. 58, R.E. 15-16.

The court ruled that "officers are allowed to testify as to how they develop suspects and everything else as long as they don't bring in other bad acts that are going to - so I'm going to allow the testimony in that regard." Tr. 61, R.E. 19. No on-the-record balancing test was conducted by the court as required by M.R.E. 403. The admission of the photographs and the testimony of Detective Calico was clearly prejudicial and tended to show evidence of other crimes, prior bad acts, and bad character of the appellant in violation of M.R.E. 404(b). This violated Mr. Denham's right to due process and a fair trial. *Brooks v. State*, 903 So.2d 691, ¶ 32-35 (Miss. 2005).

<u>ISSUE NO. 3</u>: THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN ALLOWING AN EYEWITNESS TO MAKE AN IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION OF THE DEFENDANT.

Clearly the strongest evidence presented against Mr. Denham was the eyewitness testimony given by Nelson Peden. However, it is clear that Mr. Peden's testimony was tainted by the unduly suggestive out of court identification he made on the day of the crime. Counsel's motion was heard prior to trial and denied. C.P. 35, Tr. 55-57, R.E. 13-15. This was error.

In *Neil v. Biggers*, 409 U.S. 188, 199-200 (1972), the U.S. Supreme Court set out five factors to be considered in determining whether a lineup is impermissibly suggestive: (1) the opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime; (2) the witness's degree of attention; (3) the accuracy of the witness's prior description of the criminal; (4) the level of certainty demonstrated by the witness at the confrontation; and (5) the length of time between the crime and the confrontation. The trial judge erred in determining that under the totality of the circumstances, Nelson Peden's identification of Mr. Denham was reliable.

(1) Opportunity to view the criminal at the time of the crime:

Mr. Peden testified he saw a man running across the yard. The man's car was parked by the shop, so the man would have been running away from him. Tr. 110. The man then drove past him. Tr. 112. Mr. Peden then testified he gave chase to the man and saw him again when the man turned around and drove past him while he drove off the road. Tr. 113. Although Mr. Peden claimed to have gotten a good look at the man, he neglected to mention in his testimony that he actually ran to his car, but had to go back to the carport for his keys. This is how Mr. Peden described it in his written statement:

...I was looking at the car when I seen a man running toward the car. I ran to my S.U.V. When I entered the S.U.V. I realized my key's where [sic] on the outside table. Ran back for the keys got into the S.U.V., at this time the man was driving through the yard....

Ex. 19, R.E. 26.

He also related in his statement that during the chase, the car turned around and came at him in the wrong lane, "I was forced off the side of the road." Ex. 19, R.E. 26. Yet, Mr. Peden claims to have gotten a good long look at the man, even testifying the man smiled at him. Tr. 126-127. Clearly, the evidence suggests the witness could not have had a significant amount of time to view the burglar in order to make an reliable identification.

(2) The witness's degree of attention:

Mr. Peden testified he was scared and excited. Tr. 122. As argued above, Mr. Peden was running to his car or being forced off the road while viewing the suspect. It is unreasonable to believe Mr. Peden got a good look at the suspect's face.

(3) The accuracy of the witness's prior description:

As demonstrated by the able cross-examination of trial counsel, Mr. Peden's descriptions of the suspect varied depending on to whom and when he gave statements. As

set forth in the Statement of Facts, Mr. Peden gave a description to police of the man he saw as 6'2" and 250 pounds, although he testified he told the police the man was about 6 foot and about 200 pounds and in his mid 30s. Tr. 123-124, 129, 157-158. The officer also noted on his report that Peden told him the man had a mustache, although Mr. Peden testified he had a beard. Tr. 125, 158.

(4) The level of certainty of the identification at the confrontation:

Although Mr. Peden testified he was one hundred certain Mr. Denham was the man he saw (Tr. 126), he also conceded that he knew the defendant would likely be the one black man sitting at the defense table. Tr. 133-34. Mr. Denham was not put in a live line-up for Mr. Peden to review. Tr. 177. The first time Mr. Peden had the opportunity to identify the suspect in person was at trial. The police did not put a suspect into the photo line-up that weighed about 250 pounds, the description of the size of the suspect Mr. Peden originally gave to officers. Tr. 167. Detective Wilson never told Mr. Peden it was just as important to clear an innocent man as it was to identify someone. Tr. 172. This is contrary to the guidelines set forth by the Department of Justice. Ex. D-1. The detective was not even certain he told Mr. Peden the suspect may or may not be in the line-up. Tr. 173.

(5) The length of time between the crime and the confrontation:

Mr. Peden testified he looked at the photo line up approximately two hours after his chase of the suspect. Tr. 118. The time between the crime on March 5, 2005, and the date of trial, November 16, 2005, was over eight months.

It is noteworthy that the trial judge apparently did not even consider the Biggers

factors in his decision to overrule trial counsel's motion.

MR. FARRIS: Your Honor, just a brief response. If the previous identification that the law enforcement and this witness has conducted is that credible and that valid, then there would be no need for this witness to identify my client her in open court especially when he'll be the only black male sitting at the defense table, and this witness is familiar with the jury. The fact that he's over here will be a foregone conclusion that he is in fact the defendant. **THE COURT:** If the witness saw this defendant at some point during this case and can identify this witness, I think he's entitled to identify this defendant.

Note your motion and overrule the same.

Tr. 57, R.E. 15.

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