ROPV

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

FILED

FEB - 9 2007

Office of the Clerk Supreme Court Court of Appeals

PATRICK DOUGLAS DENHAM

VS.

NO. 2006-KA-0725-COA

APPELLANT

APPELLEE

STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

BRIEF FOR THE APPELLEE

APPELLEE DOES NOT REQUEST ORAL ARGUMENT

JIM HOOD, ATTORNEY GENERAL

BY: LADONNA C. HOLLAND SPECIAL ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL MISSISSIPPI BAR NO.

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL POST OFFICE BOX 220 JACKSON, MS 39205-0220 TELEPHONE: (601) 359-3680

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

Denham claims that he was denied his right to confrontation because he was prohibited from cross-examining Jamie Bush, a Mississippi Crime Lab employee. However, Bush did not testify at trial, nor were any testimonial hearsay statements entered into evidence. Therefore, no confrontation clause violation could have occurred.

Denham argues that the trial court erred in admitting evidence of other crimes or bad acts. This simply did not happen. Denham was considered a possible suspect in other burglaries, but the jury was never informed of this fact. As part of their investigation of the other burglaries, the Forrest County Sheriff's Department had photographs of Denham and his vehicle. These photographs were admitted into evidence, but the jury never heard why the photographs had been taken. Accordingly, Denham's M.R.E. 404(b) argument must fail.

Denham also argues that the photographic line-up from which Peden positively identified him was impermissibly suggestive and, therefore, tainted Peden's in-court identification. However, Denham does not explain how the standard photographic line-up was suggestive, which is necessary before he can claim that the in-court identification was tainted. Even if the line-up had been impermissibly suggestive, which it was not, the evidence fully supports a finding that Peden's incourt identification of Denham was completely reliable.

The trial court properly refused proposed instruction D-2 as having no foundation in the evidence. The instruction referred to Peden's trial testimony as inconsistent with his prior statements. Denham's brief is devoid of any reference to the record which illustrates inconsistencies between Peden's testimony and prior statements because none exist.

3

ARGUMENT

I. THE APPELLANT WAS NOT DENIED THE RIGHT TO CONFRONTATION.

Denham argues that his right to confrontation was violated because he did not have the opportunity to cross-examine Jamie Bush, the section chief of the crime lab's latent print section. However, because Bush did not testify at trial and no testimonial hearsay statements attributed to Bush were entered into evidence, no confrontation clause violation could have occurred.

Denise Ruple, a crime scene investigator for the Hattiesburg Police Department, processed the crime scene. T. 195. Ruple dusted for fingerprints a window which she believed to be the burglar's point of entry. T. 201. The prints she pulled from the window were transferred onto a fingerprint card which she delivered to the Mississippi Crime Lab. T. 202, 203, 205-06. Detective Jeff Byrd subsequently took Denham's palm prints and fingerprints which were sent to the crime lab to be compared to the fingerprints found at the crime scene. T. 215. Paul Wilkerson, a latent fingerprint examiner at the Mississippi Crime Lab, was tendered as an expert in fingerprint identification with no objection. T. 220. After comparing fingerprints found at the crime scene with Denham's known fingerprints, Wilkerson concluded that a fingerprint left on the interior of a window of Mathis' home was made by Denham's left middle finger. T. 228.

Criminal defendants have a fundamental constitutional right to be confronted with the *witnesses who testify against them.* U.S. Const. amend. VI; Miss. Const. of 1890, Art. 3, §26. This right applies to in-court testimony as well as testimonial hearsay, unless the witness is unavailable and the defendant had a prior opportunity to cross-examine him. **Rubenstein v. State**, 941 So.2d 735, 754 (¶46) (Miss. 2006) (citing **Crawford v. Washington**, 541 U.S. 36, 53-54 (2004)). "[T]he purpose of the Confrontation Clause is 'to advance the accuracy of the truth determining process.

. . by assuring that the trier of fact has a satisfactory basis for evaluating the trust of a prior statement." Id. (quoting Lanier v. State, 533 So.2d 473, 488 (Miss.1988)).

Denham's claim is disingenuous as no prior statement attributable to Bush was presented to the jury. Rather, the jury heard only that Bush performed the initial examination at the crime lab. T. 223. Bush's report was not admitted into evidence, nor were his findings ever articulated to the jury. By no stretch of the imagination can Bush be considered a witness who testified against Denham. Accordingly, no confrontation violation occurred.

Although Denham styles his first assignment of error as a confrontation clause violation, his actual argument concerns the "failure to have Mr. Bush testify." Appellant's brief at 8. "[N]either the appellant, nor the court, instructs the State what witnesses that party shall put on the stand or how that party shall present its case." Ahmad v. State, 603 So.2d 843, 847 (Miss. 1992) (citing Hickson v. State, 512 So.2d 1 (Miss. 1987)). This issue is without merit.

II. NO EVIDENCE OF THE APPELLANT'S PRIOR BAD ACTS AND/OR OTHER CRIMES WAS ADMITTED INTO EVIDENCE.

The Forrest County Sheriff's Department considered Denham a possible suspect in other burglaries the department was investigating. T. 59. During the investigation of these burglaries, Sheriff's Deputy Nick Calico pulled Denham over and photographed him as well as his vehicle. T. 59. Prior to trial, defense counsel moved to have the photographs excluded, arguing that they were evidence of other crimes or bad acts. The court overruled the motion after ascertaining that Calico would not reference the fact Denham was a possible suspect in other burglaries. T. 60, 61. Calico's trial testimony revealed only that he had previously encountered Denham and had the opportunity to photograph him and his vehicle. T. 97-101. The photo of Denham's vehicle was entered into evidence as Exhibit 12. T. 98. During Peden's testimony, he identified the vehicle depicted in Exhibit 12 as the vehicle in which Denham fled the crime scene. T. 111.

The admissibility of evidence of other crimes or bad acts committed by the defendant is governed by M.R.E. 404(b). White v. State, 842 So.2d 565, 573 (¶24) (Miss. 2003). "The reason for the rule is to prevent the State from raising the inference that the accused has committed other crimes and is therefore likely to be guilty of the offense charged." Id. Denham asserts that evidence of his prior bad acts and other crimes was presented through Calico's testimony. However, Calico did not testify as to Denham's other crimes or bad acts. In fact, Calico specifically stated that during his encounter with Denham he was not engaged in any illegal conduct. T. 103. Accordingly, M.R.E. 404(b) is wholly inapplicable.

III. THE PRE-TRIAL PHOTO LINE-UP WAS NOT IMPERMISSIBLY SUGGESTIVE, NOR WAS THE IN-COURT IDENTIFICATION TAINTED.

The day before trial defense counsel filed a motion to preclude Peden from making an incourt identification of Denham. C.P. 35. Defense counsel unsuccessfully argued that none of the witnesses had identified Denham in person, so no foundation existed for an in-court identification. T. 55-56. On appeal, Denham claims that Peden's in-court identification of Denham was tainted by an unduly suggestive out-of-court identification.

After authorities responded to the 911 call, and within two hours of the burglary, Peden was asked to view a photographic line-up at the police station. T. 118. Peden positively identified Denham from the line-up, stating that he was one-hundred percent sure about his identification. T. 117, 150. "Pretrial photograph identifications have been generally upheld if the witnesses view the photographs separately and if there is no emphasis placed on certain photographs as opposed to others." Isom v. State, 928 So.2d 840, 847 (¶23) (Miss. 2006) (quoting Burks v. State, 770 So.2d 960, 963 (Miss.2000)). The line-up included photographs of five individuals, and nothing in the record, nor in the appellant's brief, indicates that any emphasis was placed on any of the photographs. See Exhibit 17. Peden subsequently identified Denham in court as the man he chased from Mathis' home. T. 114.

Citing Neil v. Biggers, 409 U.S. 188 (1972), Denham incorrectly states that the five Biggers factors are used to determine whether a line-up is impermissibly suggestive. Appellant's brief at 11. It must first be shown that the out-of-court identification was impermissibly suggestive before the Biggers factors even come into play. Wilson v. State, 574 So.2d 1324, 1327 (Miss. 1990) (citing Jones v. State, 504 So.2d 1196, 1199 (Miss. 1987)). The court then examines the Biggers factors "to determine whether the in-court identification is sufficiently reliable to overcome the taint of the

prior improperly attained identification." Ellis v. State, 667 So.2d 599, 605 (Miss. 1995) (quoting Gayten v. State, 595 So.2d 409, 418 (Miss.1992)). Denham fails to articulate any reason why the photographic line-up was impermissibly suggestive, and instead jumps right in to a faulty Biggers analysis. The State respectfully submits that Denham takes this approach because there was absolutely nothing about the photographic line-up which could be construed as suggestive, much less impermissibly so. Accordingly, the inquiry should end here. However, should this honorable Court find any reason to reach the Biggers factors, the State would offer the following analysis of the Biggers factors to show that the in-court identification was sufficiently reliable and admissible.

Opportunity of the witness to view the criminal at the time of the crime. While Peden was smoking a cigarette underneath the carport of Mathis' home, he saw Denham run from behind the house to his nearby parked car. T. 110. Denham came within ten to fifteen feet of Peden, and Peden was able to get a good look at Denham's face. T. 112. During the car chase, after Denham made a u-turn and ran Peden off of the road, Peden got another "real good look" at Denham's face. T. 114.

<u>The witness' degree of attention</u>. Considering the fact that a complete stranger was running from his mother-in-law's home, it is reasonable to believe that Peden was paying a great deal of attention to Denham. Further, Peden engaged Denham in a car chase, which likewise requires a great deal of attention.

<u>The accuracy of the witness' prior description of the criminal</u>. Peden described Denham as a black male with facial hair, who was six foot or taller and weighed approximately two-hundred pounds. Exhibit19. There is no evidence in the record to show Denham's actual height and weight. However, exhibits 11 and 17 do depict Denham as a black male with facial hair.

The level of certainty exhibited by the witness at the confrontation. Peden stated that he was

8

one-hundred percent certain in his identification of Denham in the photographic line-up. T. 117, 150.

<u>The time between the crime and the confrontation</u>. Peden positively identified Denham in the photographic line-up only two hours after commission of the crime. T. 118.

Because Peden positively identified Denham in a non-suggestive photographic line-up, the subsequent in-court identification was not tainted. Furthermore, an application of the **Biggers** factors shows that the in-court identification was sufficiently reliable.

.

.

IV. THE TRIAL COURT PROPERLY REFUSED PROPOSED INSTRUCTION D-2.

Denham offered the following instruction at trial. "You have heard the evidence that Nelson Peden made statements prior to trial that are inconsistent with his testimony at this trial. If you believe inconsistent statements were made by Nelson Peden, you may consider, [sic] the inconsistencies in evaluating the believability of Nelsen [sic] Peden's testimony." C.P. 53. The trial court properly refused the instruction as having no foundation in the evidence. T. 245.

A defendant is entitled to a jury instruction which presents his theory of the case, unless the instruction incorrectly states the law, is fairly covered elsewhere in the instructions, or lacks foundation in the evidence. **Phillipson v. State**, 943 So.2d 670, 671 (¶6) (Miss. 2006). The refused instruction incorrectly states that Peden's statements made prior to trial were inconsistent with his trial testimony. On appeal, Denham simply makes a conclusory statement that Peden's testimony was inconsistent, without offering any illustration or citations to the record to support this assertion. The reason is clear - there is simply nothing in Peden's pre-trial statement, Exhibit 19, which can be construed as inconsistent with his trial testimony. Accordingly, the trial court was correct in refusing proposed instruction D-2 as having no foundation in the evidence.

CONCLUSION

Denham was afforded the opportunity to fully confront and cross-examine all witnesses who testified against him. The jury heard no evidence other crimes or bad acts committed by Denham. The witness who caught Denham red-handed positively identified him from a standard, non-suggestive photo line-up and at trial. Finally, jury instruction D-2 had no foundation in the evidence and was, therefore, properly refused. Because no reversible error was committed in the trial court, the Appellee asks this honorable Court to affirm Denham's conviction of burglary of a dwelling and sentence of twenty-five years in the custody of the Mississippi Department of Corrections.